FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/3/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/2/2024 4:25 PM

Case #: 1030096

Supreme Court No.	
COA No. 852051	
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
VP Elite Construction, LLC,	
Petitioner,	
v.	
2400 Elliott, LLC,	
Respondent.	
PETITION FOR REVIEW	

Boris Davidovskiy, WSBA #50593 BORIS DAVIDOVSKIY, P.C. 6100 219th Street SW, Suite 480 Mountlake Terrace, WA 98043 Telephone: (425) 582-5200 Email: boris@davidovskiylaw.com

Attorney for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court is asked to accept review of a Court of Appeals Decision sanctioning (through the imposition of attorney's fees and costs under RAP 18.9) a mechanic's lien holder who did not provide a release of lien after the lien had expired by operation of law. Under RCW 60.04.141—a selfexecuting statute—where the lien claimant files no action to enforce the lien within eight calendar months after the claim of lien has been recorded, the claimant's lien rights fully expire by operation of law and the lien no longer binds the real property. It necessarily follows that, if the expired, void, and unenforceable lien no longer binds the real property, the lien claimant has no *legal* obligation to execute a release of the rights it no longer has by recording release of the void lien.

Mr. Petro Tomiev and Mr. Andrey Miroshnik are immigrants from Ukraine and the owners of VP Elite Construction, LLC ("VP Elite"), which they formed to survive, become contributing citizens of, and make a living in the U.S.

by providing construction services to those in need. As immigrants, they still struggle with the English language.

Here, VP Elite recorded a lien against certain property owned by 2400 Elliott, LLC ("2400 Elliott"). It took no further action, and all lien rights expired under RCW 60.04.141. When 2400 Elliott asked VP Elite to release the expired lien, VP Elite did not respond. 2400 Elliott sued VP Elite "For Release of Lien and Declaratory Judgment," seeking: (1) under the first cause of action, entitled Release of Lien (RCW 60.04.071), an order compelling VP Elite to deliver a release of the expired lien to clear title," even though the lien was void; and (2) under the second cause of action, entitled Declaratory Relief, a "declaration that VP Elite's Claim of Lien has expired an no longer burdens the Property, and that VP Elite has no further lien or right of lien against the Property," even though the lien statute already states the lien no longer burdens the property.

On November 21, 2022, after VP Elite inadvertently did

¹ CP at 18-25.

not respond to the lawsuit due, in part, to the misunderstanding of the paperwork,² 2400 Elliott took a default against VP Elite.³ VP Elite quickly retained counsel.⁴ On December 12, 2022, VP Elite's counsel appeared in the case informally by contacting 2400 Elliott's counsel regarding a possible resolution.⁵ On March 13, 2023, VP Elite's counsel learned that 2400 Elliott would not agree to set aside the default voluntarily.⁶

On March 21, 2023, VP Elite promptly filed a motion to vacate under CR 60,⁷ which the trial court denied on the grounds that "VP failed to bring its Motion within a reasonable time." Citing 2400 Elliott's speculative regarding a title company's possible refusal to insure without a release of the expired lien as decision for the argument that the lien constituted a cloud on title, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order. AP 1-8.

² CP at 177-181.

³ CP at 126-130.

⁴ CP at 177-181.

⁵ CP at 186-187; CP at 173.

⁶ CP at 173.

⁷ CP 164-196.

⁸ CP at 239-241.

The Court is asked to accept review to decide whether an expired lien, which is void by operation of Washington law, constitutes a cloud on title as the Court of Appeals concluded. As this Court has held, where a party shows a strong or virtually conclusive defense to the opponent's lawsuit, a motion to vacate should be granted if it is filed within the one-year period of CR 60(b)(1). White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 352 (1968). See also Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson, 95 Wn. App. 231, 243 (1999) (citing Suburban, 72 Wn. App. 302, 306 (1993)). Here, VP Elite had a conclusive defense because VP Elite had no legal duty to release the rights it no longer had by recording a release of the lien, which was void and no longer encumbered the real property.

This Court should accept review of this matter under RAP 13.4 as equating a title company's underwriting decision as the equivalent of the legal determination that a matter constitutes a cloud on title is error. Such a ruling gives title insurance companies too much power on such issues and essentially

And, the decision below conflicts directly with, *inter alia*, *Barstad v. Stewart Title Guar. Co., Inc.*, 145 Wn.2d 528 (2002), which holds, under RCW 48.29.010, that a commitment to issue a title insurance policy from a title insurance title company <u>"is not a representation as to the condition of the title to real property</u>, but is a statement of terms and conditions upon which the issuer is willing to issue its title policy, if the offer is accepted." The decision below essentially upends *Barstad* given the provisions of GR 14.1. This Court should accept review and affirm the principles of *Barstad* and RCW 48.29.010.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

VP Elite seeks review of the decision issued below.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision filed on March 4, 2024. (Appx. A) (2400 ELLIOTT, LLC v. VP Elite Constr., LLC, 85205-1-I, 2024 WL

⁹ Emphasis added.

913847 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 4, 2024)). The Court of Appeals denied the Motion for Reconsideration on April 2, 2024.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's decision denying VP Elite's motion to vacate and concluding that VP Elite failed to file its motion to vacate within a "reasonable time when the Court of Appeals concludes that the lien statute imposes no obligation to provide a lien release; VP Elite has a conclusive defense to 2400 Elliot's action; and VP Elite filed its motion to vacate within the timeframe prescribed by CR 60?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals err, in conflict with *White*, by failing to first determine whether VP Elite had a strong or conclusive defense to the action before inquiring into the reasons that occasioned entry of default and whether VP Elite filed its motion to vacate within a "reasonable time"?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals err by failing to consider that the trial court failed to determine whether VP Elite had a strong

- or conclusive defense and instead determined only whether VP Elite filed its motion to vacate within a reasonable time, thereby misapplying the law and abusing its discretion?
- 4. Does the Court of Appeals err in relying on a title company's misconstruction of an expired lien for the conclusion that an expired lien can serve as a cloud on title and, therefore, create a direct conflict with *Barstad*.
- 5. Does the Court of Appeals err in ignoring the record before it when, if it considered all the facts before it—including that VP Elite did explain the delay in challenging the fee order and why it waited until it did to file its motion to vacate; that 2400 Elliott's lawsuit for the release of the lien and attorney fees was premised on a statutory obligation that did not exist; and that 2400 Elliott's cause of action for declaratory relief lacked lack of any justiciable controversy and did not seek a release of the lien or attorney fees and costs that—it could not have reached its conclusion?

- 6. Does the Court of Appeals err in imposing sanctions for filing a frivolous appeal and conflict with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals on this issue?
- 7. If the trial court's default judgment is reversed, should all orders following that default be reversed, including the fee order in favor of 2400 Elliott, so that the parties' rights are left as though the default had never been entered?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Like the trial court, the Court below failed to correctly consider and apply the *White* test, which the decision below does not even mention, and which requires that, in determining whether a party is entitled to vacation of a default judgment, the court first determine whether a party can demonstrate the existence of a strong or virtually conclusive defense before engaging in any further inquiry. Rather, the Court below first considered whether VP Elite failed to file its motion to vacate

¹⁰ White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348 (1968).

within a "reasonable time." Disregarding the sequence of the *White* test, the Court below only later considered VP Elite's defense, incorrectly concluding that VP Elite "had *no defense*":

"Here, VP Elite conceded that its lien had expired and "was absolutely *void* and no longer bound" 2400 Elliott's property. Throughout its briefs in this court, VP Elite characterizes this concession as a "virtually conclusive defense" to 2400 Elliott's lawsuit. This characterization is not reasonable. Although VP Elite is correct that its lien had clearly expired under RCW 60.04.141, which imposes no obligation to provide a lien release, 2400 Elliott's lawsuit was not premised on a statutory obligation to deliver a lien release. Instead, 2400 Elliott sought equitable and declaratory relief because VP Elite's recorded lien notice remained a potential cloud on title even if the underlying lien was clearly invalid. To this end, VP Elite's own counsel confirmed in a declaration submitted in support of the motion to vacate that at least one title company has incorrectly construed a recorded lien notice as valid even when it was not, thus requiring his intervention. Far from establishing a conclusive defense, the record shows that VP Elite had no defense. See Robinson v. Khan, 89 Wn. App. 418, 423, 948 P.2d 1347 (1998) (cloud on title is anything "that has a tendency, even in a slight degree, to cast doubt upon the owner's title" and includes an "encumbrance which is actually invalid or inoperative, but which may nevertheless impair the title to property" (emphasis added) (quoting Whitney v. City of Port Huron, 88 Mich. 268, 272, 50 N.W. 316 (1891); 65 AM. JUR. 2D Quieting Title § 9, at 148 (1972)). This was an

¹¹ *Slip Op.* at 4.

independent reason for the trial court to deny VP Elite's motion to vacate as it pertained to the default judgment. The trial court did not abuse its discretion."

Slip Op. at 6-7.

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

A. Criteria for discretionary review.

The decision upends *Barstad* given the provisions of GR 14.1. The decision further conflicts with other prior opinions of this Court, including in *White* and *Davis*, and with prior Court of Appeals' decisions, including in *Shepard* and *Suburban*; and it involves significant issues of public interest. Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court should accept review and affirm the principles of *Barstad*, and RCW 48.29.010.

B. The Opinion Conflicts with Case Law Holding That, In Determining Whether a Party Is Entitled to Vacation of a Default Judgment, The Initial Inquiry Is Whether the Defendant Can Demonstrate the Existence of a Strong or Virtually Conclusive Defense.

In TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc., 140 Wn. App. 191 (2007) (citing Johnson v.

10

Cash Store, 116 Wn. App. 833, 841-43 (2003), which the decision below cites, Division I reiterated "the test established in White," namely, that "the court should first inquire whether the defendant has demonstrated the existence of a strong or virtually conclusive defense or, alternatively, the existence of a prima facie defense to the plaintiff's claims." Id. at 201. Critically, "[t]he nature of the trial court's further inquiry depends upon its determination of that question." Id.

As stated, "where the moving party is able to demonstrate a strong or virtually conclusive defense to the opponent's claim, scant time will be spent inquiring into the reasons which occasioned entry of the default[.]" White, 73 Wn.2d at 352. Likewise, Division I has also held that "where a party moving to vacate a default shows a strong defense and the cause of the error is understandable, a motion to vacate can be granted if it is filed within the one year period of CR 60(b)(1) even where the moving party has been less

than totally diligent." Shepard Ambulance, 95 Wn. App. at 243 (1999) (citing Suburban, 72 Wn. App. at 306).

As an initial matter, directly contrary to *TMT*, the very case it cites, the opinion below fails to <u>first</u> consider whether VP Elite can demonstrate the existence of a strong or virtually conclusive defense. Rather, the decision below incorrectly first heavily focuses on whether VP Elite failed to file its motion to vacate within a "reasonable time." (Notably, while the decision below does later consider the conclusive defense issue, thereby misapplying the *White* test, the trial court never even determined whether VP Elite demonstrated a strong or conclusive defense, ¹³ and, therefore, abused its discretion. ¹⁴) In

¹² *Slip Op*. at 4.

¹³ CP at 329-241. Noticeably absent from the order is any finding or conclusion as to the conclusive defense argument.

¹⁴ A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *Showalter v. Wild Oats*, 124 Wn. App. 506, 510 (2004). It is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. *State v. Rundquist*, 79 Wn. App. 786, 793 (1995) (citing WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASS'N,

doing so, stating that VP Elite "did not explain why VP Elite waited another three months to seek relief," ¹⁵ the Court below also ignores the record of VP Elite's attempts to reach 2400 Elliot's counsel during this timeframe for purposes of possibly reaching a resolution to minimize party and court resources, ¹⁶ which does explain the delay. And, in stating that VP Elite "did not address, much less explain, VP Elite's delay in challenging the fee order," the Court below ignores the record of 2400 Elliott not providing a copy of the fee order, which 2400 Elliott obtained on December 14, 2021, ¹⁷ to VP Elite's counsel until March 13, 2022, ¹⁸ even though VP Elite's counsel had informally appeared in the case on December 12, 2021. ¹⁹

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE D ESKBOOK § 18.5 (2d ed.1993)), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1003 (1996).

¹⁵ *Slip Op*. at 4.

¹⁶ CP at 173; CP at 185.

¹⁷ CP at 156-160.

¹⁸ CP at 167-168.

¹⁹ CP at 186-187; CP at 173. A party that substantially complies with the appearance requirement is entitled to notice. *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 755 (2007). A defendant need not strictly follow CR 4(a)(3) or RCW 4.28.210. *Servatron, Inc. v.*

In any event, ignoring the prescribed sequence of the *White* test, the Court below incorrectly considered whether VP Elite's had a conclusive defense only after it had already (incorrectly) concluded that VP Elite failed to file its motion to vacate within a reasonable time, ²⁰ referring to the consideration of the nature of the defense as simply "an independent reason" for the trial court to deny VP Elite's motion to vacate, which decision ignores not only that the trial court had failed to even determine whether VP Elite had a strong or conclusive defense, but also that this inquiry had to have been the key "initial" inquiry controlling any and all further inquiries.

C. The Opinion Conflicts with Case Law Holding That an Expired Lien Under RCW 60.04 Is Void and Does Not Bind the Real Property.

Under the lien statute, "No lien created by this chapter binds the property subject to the lien for a longer period than

Intelligent Wireless Products, Inc., 186 Wn. App. 666, 675 (2015). Substantial compliance with the appearance requirement may be satisfied informally. State v. Superior Court of Clallam Cty., 52 Wn. 13 (1909).

20 Slip Op. at 4.

eight calendar months after the claim of lien has been recorded unless an action is filed by the lien claimant within that time in the superior court in the county where the subject property is located to enforce the lien." RCW 60.04.071. Notably, the lien statute does not require the lien claimant to release the claim of client if the lien claimant does not file an action within the required timeframe and otherwise lets the claim of lien expire, because the lien automatically expires by operation of law.

This Court held in *Davis* that "the lien expires by force of the statute unless action be commenced within the statutory time." Further, Division II has noted that courts have consistently followed *Davis*:

"By its 1992 amendment, the legislature simplified the procedure to create a valid lien. It did so by allowing the lien claimant to create a valid lien by serving the owner rather than all necessary parties. But the legislature did not address the *Davis* holding that *a lien becomes void as to any party not served within eight months* and 90 days. And courts have consistently followed *Davis*." 22

²¹ Bob Pearson Const., Inc. v. First Cmty. Bank of Washington, 111 Wn. App. 174, 178 (2002) (citing Davis v. Bartz, 65 Wn. 395, 397 (1911) (emphasis added)).

²² *Id.* (emphasis added).

Because VP Elite's Claim of Lien expired after eight months, it was void and no longer bound the 2400 Elliot's real property. See also Diversified Wood Recycling, Inc. v. Johnson, 161 Wn. App. 891, 902 (2011) (The claimant must file suit within 8 months of recording the lien or else the lien will expire); Schumacher Painting Co. v. First Union Mgmt., Inc., 69 Wn. App. 693, 700 (1993) (lien expired and foreclosure action was void); Geo Exch. Sys., LLC v. Cam, 115 Wn. App. 625, 630 (2003) (if an action is not filed within eight months, the right to recover on the recorded lien expires); Curtis Lumber Co. v. Sortor, 83 Wn.2d 764, 767 (1974) (according to the statutory language the lien expires eight months after filing of claim of lien unless an action to foreclose is commenced). Milwaukie Lumber Co. v. Veristone Fund I, LLC, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1090, review denied sub nom. Lumber v. Veristone Fund I, LLC, 198 Wn.2d 1013 (2021) (to prevent expiration of a valid lien, the lien claimant must file a lawsuit within 8 months of recording); Hindman Constr., Inc. v. Boos, 25 Wn. App. 2d

1043 (2023) (merely recording a lien does not ensure a claimant's right to recover; they must initiate a legal action within eight months or their right to recover on the recorded lien expires). *Shelcon Const. Grp., LLC v. Haymond*, 187 Wn. App. 878, 899 (2015) (a specific lien claim expires within the eight-month period under RCW 60.04.141).

Accordingly, Washington case law is clear: Although an expired lien, like all recorded documents, is a matter of public record, it is without force or effect and, under the self-executing lien statute, constitutes and can constitute no cloud—not even in the slightest degree—on 2400 Elliot's real property's title.

As a result, VP Elite had no legal obligation to record a release of the lien rights VP Elite no longer had once its lien expired.

But, the decision below conflicts with this case law and is internally contradictory. As an initial matter, the Court below actually rules on the key dispositive issue in favor of VP Elite.

Specifically, 2400 Elliott's lawsuit was mainly, if not entirely, premised on the misplaced notion that VP Elite was required to

deliver a release of the lien after it had expired. CP at 18-25.²³

Despite 2400 Elliot's claims to the contrary, the Court below concludes that the lien statute "imposes no obligation to provide a lien release."²⁴ This conclusion is fatal to 2400 Elliot's lawsuit because it expressly confirms the very existence of a conclusive defense to both of 2400 Elliot's causes of action.

Specifically, 2400 Elliott's *Amended* Complaint for Release of Lien and Declaratory Judgment's ("Amended Complaint") first cause of action is entitled "FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION – RELEASE OF LIEN (RCW 60.04.071)."

Id.²⁵ As to 2400 Elliott's second cause of action, entitled "SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION – DECLARATORY

²³ See also, generally, Brief of Respondent ("VP Elite Raises No Valid Defense Against the Claim to Compel Deliverance of a Lien Release.") See also CP at 207 ("Rather than assert any defense, it simply claims that a lawsuit is unnecessary because an expired lien does not burden the property and therefore VP Elite should not have to record or deliver a release of lien. However, it is no defense to a claim that the defendant does not believe the claim is necessary to accomplish the plaintiff's purpose.")

²⁴ *Slip Op.* at 6.

²⁵ Emphasis added.

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