FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/3/2024 3:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1030096

COA NO. 852051

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VP ELITE CONSTRUCTION, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

2400 ELLIOTT, LLC,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bart W. Reed, WSBA 45005 Evan A. Brown, WSBA 48272 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 Phone: 206-624-0900

Attorneys for Respondent 2400 Elliott, LLC

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

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior decisions when:
 - A. VP Elite's motion to vacate was untimely, and *White v. Holm* and its progeny require timely application?
 - B. Applying *Robinson v. Khan*, an expired lien is a cloud on title even if it is no longer enforceable?
 - C. VP Elite did not raise any issue with *Barstad v*.

 Stewart Title Guaranty, and the decision does not implicate it?
- 2. Whether the appeal presents an issue of substantial public interest when it involves the discretionary decision to deny an untimely and meritless motion to vacate a default judgment?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with cases regarding frivolity when the appellant disregarded a ruling dismissing its appeal in part and raised no debatable issues under the applicable law?

V. ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

VP Elite has utilized all procedural devices to delay resolution of this matter and increase cost to 2400 Elliott. The relevant law is settled, and the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any other decisions. There are no issues of substantial public importance. This Court should

reject the Petition and award 2400 Elliott its attorneys' fees and expenses incurred preparing this Answer.

A. Standard for Acceptance of Review

This Court's consideration of the Petition is governed by RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

VP Elite principally invokes the first two of these grounds: alleged conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. But there is no conflict where the Court of Appeals applies prior case law and merely disagrees with the appellant's *argument* regarding application of that case law. *See, e.g., In re Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn.2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460 (2015), *denying review*. Instead, RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are intended to allow this Court to resolve direct conflicts of authority. *See Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017). VP Elite also argues that the case presents issues of "substantial public interest" under RAP

13.4(b)(4) but only identifies issues that have already been resolved by the courts.

B. VP Elite's Motion to Vacate Was Untimely, and the Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with *White v. Holm*.

The trial court found that VP Elite's motion to vacate was untimely because VP Elite failed to bring its motion within a reasonable time when it knowingly ignored the deadline in the judgment and chose not to take any action for months. CP at 240. The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying vacatur on this basis. VP Elite argues that the decision conflicts with *White v. Holm,* 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968), and/or *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 205, 165 P.3d 1271, 1280 (2007), contending that those cases require a court to determine that the defendant has no strong defenses before even considering the timeliness of the motion to vacate. This is not the holding of *White* or *TMT* and ignores long-settled law. There is no conflict to resolve, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed.

1. VP Elite's Motion to Vacate Was Untimely.

CR60(b) requires that a motion to vacate "shall be made within a reasonable time" but, in certain cases, "not more than 1 year after the

judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken." Luckett v. Boeing Co., 98 Wn. App. 307, 310, 989 P.2d 1144 (1999). "What constitutes a reasonable time depends on the facts and circumstances of each case." Id. at 312. "The critical period in the determination of whether a motion to vacate is brought within a reasonable time is the period between when the moving party became aware of the judgment and the filing of the motion." Id.

VP Elite knew of the judgment well in advance of the December 21, 2022 deadline for compliance but chose to neither comply nor move to vacate by that date. It then attempted to coerce 2400 Elliott into compromising its rights for months before finally appearing and moving to vacate. The trial court was well within its discretion to find that, on those facts, VP Elite did not move within a reasonable time. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed because the record "amply supports" the finding. App'x at 6. VP Elite does not challenge this, and it is independently dispositive.

_

² VP Elite appears to argue that a CR 60(b) motion need only be brought within a year, not within a "reasonable time." But it is well settled that the motion must *both* be brought within a reasonable time *and* within one year of judgment. *Ha v. Signal Elec.*, *Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 454, 332 P.3d 991 (2014).

2. White and TMT Support the Court of Appeals' Decision.

VP Elite contends that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *White* and *TMT* based on a selective quotation that omits dispositive language. When read in full and in context, it is clear that VP Elite's contention is meritless and there is no conflict with *White*. What VP Elite is really asking this Court to do is bless VP Elite's willful disregard of its procedural obligations under CR 55(c) and CR 60(b) in hopes of further prolonging this case.

VP Elite misreads or misrepresents *White*, arguing that it "requires that, in determining whether a party is entitled to vacation of a default judgment, the court *first determine* whether a party can demonstrate the existence of a strong or virtually conclusive defense *before engaging in any further inquiry*." Petition at 8 (emphases added). This is not what *White* says. Rather, *White* recognized a multi-factor balancing test that "revolves about two primary and two secondary factors which must be shown by the moving party." 73 Wn.2d at 352. "These factors are interdependent; thus, the requisite proof that needs to be shown on any one factor depends on the degree of proof made on each of the other factors." *Norton v. Brown*, 99 Wn. App. 118, 124, 992 P.2d 1019 (2000).

Notably, the court in *White* explained that application of this multifactor test *also* requires a timely motion to vacate: [W]here the moving party is able to demonstrate a strong or virtually conclusive defense to the opponent's claim, scant time will be spent inquiring into the reasons which occasioned entry of the default, *provided the moving party is timely with his application* and the failure to properly appear in the action in the first instance was not willful.

Id. (emphasis added). Later cases, including *TMT*, have agreed:

[A]s the court in *White* explained, a trial court may grant vacation of a default judgment when (1) the movant is able to demonstrate that it has a strong or virtually conclusive defense to the claim asserted against it; (2) the movant has timely moved to vacate the default judgment; and (3) the movant's failure to timely appear was not willful.

TMT, 140 Wn. App. at 205 (emphasis added); *accord*, *e.g.*, *Johnson v. Cash Store*, 116 Wn. App. 833, 841, 68 P.3d 1099, 1104 (2003); *Shepard Ambulance*, *Inc. v. Helsell*, *Fetterman*, *Martin*, *Todd & Hokanson*, 95 Wn. App. 231, 242, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999).

Far from prescribing that courts must inquire into the strength of potential defenses *before* looking at the timeliness of the motion (or any other factor), *White* provides that the timeliness of the motion *must be considered* to grant vacatur even where there is a "virtually conclusive" defense. Such a defense weighs heavily under the *White* test *only if the defendant timely moved vacate*. Were it otherwise, the procedural

12

³ Note the distinction between the *timeliness of the defendant's motion to vacate* and the justification for the defendant's *untimely appearance in the case*.

requirements of CR 55(c) and CR 60(b) would be optional, and a defendant could simply choose not to appear in a case and then present defenses at any time after entry of default judgment with no regard for timeliness. This is not the holding of *White* or *TMT* and would upend the Civil Rules.

VP Elite focuses on *TMT* which, quoted out of context, appears to interpret *White* as imposing a strict sequence by which the strength of defenses is the initial inquiry. However, as quoted above, *TMT* separates the two inquiries, stating that even where there is a "virtually conclusive" defense, vacatur is warranted *only if the motion also was timely*. 140 Wn. App. at 205. Regardless, reading the *TMT* opinion in context, it is clear the court understood that *White* requires an interdependent multi-factor test rather than a strictly sequential test.

Because the record "amply supports" the trial court's finding that VP Elite's motion to vacate was untimely, the trial court properly denied VP Elite's motion under CR 60(b) and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed. White and TMT do not conflict with the lower courts' rulings; they confirm them. By asking this Court to review on grounds that the sequence of inquiry was incorrect, VP Elite is asking the Court to depart from this long-settled law and hold that timeliness under CR 60(b) is an afterthought even where, as here, the defendant knowingly disregards a deadline in the judgment.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that VP Elite's Expired Lien Was a Cloud on Title Subject to Relief.

Even if the motion to vacate had been timely, the trial court determined that VP Elite failed to meet its burden to show grounds for vacatur. CP at 240. The Court of Appeals agreed, concluding that VP Elite did not have a potentially meritorious, much less "virtually conclusive," defense to 2400 Elliott's claims. App'x at 8-9. VP Elite disagrees, arguing that an expired lien cannot create a cloud on title because it "does not encumber the property or diminish its value." Petition at 29. But that is not the applicable standard, and nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with, or even departs from, its prior decisions or the decisions of this Court.

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Case Law Regarding Clouds on Title.

The law on this issue is settled:

The word "cloud" does not denote a hard-edged limitation. It is more appropriate to focus on whether the recorded document has *any tendency to impair* the fee owner's ability to exercise the rights of ownership.

Robinson v. Khan, 89 Wn. App. 418, 422–23, 948 P.2d 1347 (1998) (emphasis added). "Cloud upon title has also been defined to include an 'encumbrance which is actually invalid or inoperative, but which may nevertheless impair the title to property." Id. (quoting 65 Am.Jur.2d Quieting Title § 9 (1972)) (emphasis added).

A cloud upon a title is but an apparent defect in it. If the title, sole and absolute in fee, is really in the person moving against the cloud, the density of the cloud can make no difference in the right to have it removed. Anything of this kind that has a tendency, even in a slight degree, to cast doubt upon the owner's title, and to stand in the way of a full and free exercise of his ownership, is, in my judgment, a cloud upon his title which the law should recognize and remove.

Id. (quoting *Whitney v. City of Port Huron*, 88 Mich. 268, 272, 50 N.W. 316, 317–18, (1891)) (emphases added).

2400 Elliott was forced to initiate the lawsuit because VP Elite's expired lien was an apparent defect in the title. After recordation, a lien is discoverable in the chain of title. When the owner wants to sell, refinance, or otherwise voluntarily transfer or encumber the property, title examiners and other non-lawyers may see the lien and treat it as an actual or potential encumbrance on the property. *See* CP at 183, 217. This creates obstacles to the owner exercising its rights. *Id.* When the lien expires by operation of law, nothing is added to the chain of title to show the expiration. Instead, it continues to appear as an encumbrance unless the lien claimant records a release or the owner secures judgment declaring the lien expired or otherwise quieting title and then records that judgment.

After VP Elite ignored repeated requests for a lien release, 2400 Elliott was forced to commence this lawsuit to address the cloud on title created by VP Elite's expired lien. To that end, 2400 Elliott sought

declaratory judgment and delivery of a release. VP Elite now admits that its lien expired when it failed to commence foreclosure within eight months as required by RCW 60.04.141. As such, VP Elite *concedes* the basis for 2400 Elliott's claims.⁴ Yet it contends that this concession establishes a "virtually conclusive" defense against 2400 Elliott's lawsuit because it asserts that the expired lien did not create a cloud on title.

VP Elite confuses the distinction between a valid *encumbrance on property* and a *cloud on title*, then proceeds from the invalid premise that they are synonymous. VP Elite's argument is directly at odds with *Robinson*, which specifically states that an "invalid or inoperative" encumbrance that has "any tendency" to impair the property owner's ability to exercise its rights constitutes a cloud on title. A construction lien under Ch. 60.04 RCW is an encumbrance on property and may be recorded in the chain of title. *See* RCW 60.04.021, .091; *Sullins v. Sullins*, 65 Wn.2d 283, 285, 396 P.2d 886 (1964). An expired construction lien can no longer be enforced by foreclosure. RCW 60.04.141. As such, it is an "invalid or

_

⁴ VP Elite argues that there was no justiciable controversy subject to declaratory judgment because it conceded that its lien was expired. But VP Elite only conceded that point *after judgment had been entered*. The record shows that VP Elite ignored 2400 Elliott's repeated attempts to resolve the controversy prior to litigation. *See* CP at 57-58, 63-64, 223-24.

inoperative" encumbrance, which, under *Robinson*, creates a cloud on title if it has any tendency "to cast doubt upon the owner's title."

The record shows, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that the expired lien at issue here has a tendency to impair 2400 Elliott's ability to exercise its rights. This tendency arises because title examiners and others are unable to tell from the recorded lien whether and when it expires. CP at 183, 217. Confusion among title examiners and others can cause problems when the owner wishes to exercise its property rights to alienate or voluntarily encumber the property via transfer, conveyance, or financing transactions. *Id.* This confusion can impair the exercise of those rights and, as a practical matter, force the owner to incur substantial legal fees untangling the mess. This tendency to impair the owner's rights is a cloud on title.

Were VP Elite correct that an expired lien does not cloud title because it is not a *valid* encumbrance, there would be no such thing as a cloud on title at all. The only relevant inquiry would be whether a recorded encumbrance was valid or not. This is precisely what *Robinson* rejected. Far from conflicting with precedent, the Court of Appeals' decision was bound by it. VP Elite offers no grounds for this Court to overturn *Robinson*, which owners, their counsel, and the courts have relied on for years.

2. <u>VP Elite Never Raised Any Issue Regarding *Barstad*, Which Does Not Apply.</u>

VP Elite tries to recast its argument as one potentially more interesting to this Court, stating that the Court of Appeals somehow "equat[ed] a title company's underwriting decision as the equivalent of the legal determination that a matter constitutes a cloud on title," and that this conflicts with *Barstad v. Stewart Title Guar. Co., Inc.*, 145 Wn.2d 528 (2002), regarding the legal effect of a title insurance policy.

As a threshold matter, VP Elite waived any right to raise this argument in the Petition by failing to raise it below. RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court may refuse to review issues not raised below, except in specified circumstances, and RAP 13.7(c) applies this rule to petitions for discretionary review. Accordingly, "[t]his court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review." *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998). VP Elite did not even cite *Barstad* in its briefing below, much less raise this argument. Because neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals had occasion to address the question, this Court should decline to review it.

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